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Report to the Judicial Council of the Second Circuit From the
Special Committee Convened, Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 353(a), to
Investigate the Allegations of Judicial Misconduct in the
Complaints Docketed Under 05-8512, 05-8513, 05-8514, 05-8515, 05-
8516, 05-8517, and 05-8519

This report is submitted to the Judicial Council of the
Second Circuit, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 353(c) and Rule 10(e) of
the Rules of the Judicial Council of the Second Circuit Governing
Complaints Against Judicial Officers (“the Local Rules”), by the
special committee appointed by Chief Judge John M. Walker, Jr.,
to investigate the allegations in the above-referenced complaints
that District Judge Robert N. Chatigny engaged in judicial
misconduct. The special committee (“the Committee”) consisted of
Chief Judge Walker, Circuit Judge Pierre N. Leval, and Chief
Judge Michael B. Mukasey of the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York. Michael Zachary, a
supervisory staff attorney for the Court of Appeals, was
appointed counsel to the Committee pursuant to Local Rule 10(c).
Judge Chatigny is represented by Jacob D. Zeldes and David P.
Atkins of the firm of Zeldes, Needle & Cooper.

As required by 28 U.S.C. § 353 (c), the Committee has
“conduct [ed] an investigation as extensive as it considers
necessary” and presents in this report “both the findings of the
investigation and the [Clommittee’s recommendations for necessary

and appropriate action by the judicial council.”



I. Statement of Claims to be Adijudicated

The seven complaints under consideration contain identical
statements of facts and claims. The Complainant in the
proceeding docketed under 05-8519 was granted leave to amend his
complaint to present additional misconduct allegations. All of
the allegations concern Judge Chatigny’s conduct in two district
court actions - one a habeas corpus action under 28 U.S.C. § 2254
and the other a c¢ivil rights action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 - both
challenging the imminent execution of Michael Ross, who had been
convicted in Connecticut state court, and sentenced to death, for
murdering three girls and a nineteen-year-old woman after

kidnapping and/or sexually assaulting them. See State v. Ross,

269 Conn. 213, 849 A.2d 648 (2004). After lengthy proceedings in
the State and federal courts, Ross had decided to cease further
challenges and to proceed to his execution.

A few days before Ross’s execution was to take place, these
two actions were filed in federal court by persons other than
Ross and were assigned to Judge Chatigny. In both actions the
plaintiffs claimed that Ross was not competent and that his
decision to waive any legal rights therefore should not be
credited.

The § 2254 action was brought on Ross’s behalf by a person,

claiming “next friend” standing, asserting, inter alia, that Ross

was not competent to waive further challenges to his death

sentence. See Ross v. Lantz, No. 05-cv-0116 (D. Conn. filed Jan.




21, 2005) (Petition). In the § 1983 action, Ross’s father
claimed that the planned execution would violate his, the

father’s, due process and equal protection rights, based on,

inter alia, Ross’s alleged lack of volitional capacity and
competence to waive further challenges to the execution. See

Ross v. Rell, No. 05-¢v-0130 (D. Conn. filed Jan. 25, 2005)

(Complaint). Ross’s interests were represented in the two
actions by his attorney, T. R. Paulding, Esqg.?

The proceedings which were the basis of the charges against
Judge Chatigny were highly unusual and emotional. This was the
first death penalty to be carried out in the state of Connecticut
in over 40 years. As noted, these events occurred days before
Ross’s scheduled execution. Although Ross’s competence
previously had been determined by the Connecticut courts, three

new pieces of pertinent evidence came before Judge Chatigny - a

! Paulding represented Ross on a pro bono basis from
February 2004 until Ross’s execution in May 2005. Under the
circumstances of this highly contentious case, his pro bono
service entitles him to our commendation. Although Paulding’s
ethical obligations were central to several issues in this
matter, the Committee stresses that it does not call into
question his compliance with those obligations. From Paulding’s
point of view, he faced a dilemma with regard to his ethical
obligations. On the basis of his long experience and familiarity
with his client, Ross, he was persuaded of his client’s
competence. Paulding therefore considered himself ethically
bound to respect his client’s instruction to bring no further
challenges and to resist the pressure exerted by Judge Chatigny
to pursue the doubts the judge had about Ross’s competency. Our
finding that the judge committed no misconduct in no ways implies
that Paulding was derelict in the conduct of his duties. The
simple fact is that those highly unusual circumstances created
dilemmas for both the lawyer and the judge.

3



psychiatrist’s testimony, a letter from a prisoner at Ross’s
institution, and a statement from a retired prison official, all
of which supported the assertion that Ross’s competence was
impaired.

Given the new evidence raising the possibility that Ross may
have become incompetent and therefore not legally able to waive
legal rights, Judge Chatigny became persuaded that, before Ross
could be permitted to proceed to his execution without raising
available legal challenges, his continued competency needed to be
confirmed. His lawyer Paulding, however, believed himself bound
to carry out his client’s instructions and was refusing to take
steps to pursue and test the new evidence supporting
incompetence. The judge believed that, in the face of evidence
suggesting Ross’'s incompetence, Ross’s attorney was obligated to
investigate Ross’s competence before following Ross'’s
instructions to waive all challenges to his execution. The
proceedings that are the focus of the complaints involve Judge
Chatigny’s efforts to persuade Paulding that he was
professionally obligated to pursue the evidence indicating
possible incompetence. These efforts were ultimately successful:
further competency hearings ensued, prior to Ross'’s eventual
execution.

The Complainants are attorneys in the Connecticut Division
of Criminal Justice and the Office of the Chief State’s Attorney

- the office which conducted the prosecution of Ross and defended



the two actions in question.?

The principal specifications of the Complaints fall

essentially into three categories. First, they allege that Judge

Chatigny committed misconduct in failing to recuse himself (or at

least reveal the facts) where, 13 years earlier, as an attorney

in private practice representing the Connecticut Criminal De

Lawyers Association (“CCDLA”) he had had a brief involvement

fense

in

Ross’s case. Second, the Complaints allege that Judge Chatigny’s

efforts to persuade Paulding to investigate and pursue the i

ssue

of Ross’s competence included improper threatening conduct and

interfered with both Paulding’s rights as counsel and Ross'’'s

right to choose his counsel. Third, the Complaints allege that

in the course of these proceedings Judge Chatigny abandoned
neutrality and became an advocate on behalf of saving Ross £
execution, exceeding his judicial authority and defying the
rulings of higher courts. Specifically, the Complaints make

following allegations:

A. Judge Chatigny violated 28 U.S.C. § 455 by not, ab

initio, disclosing his prior involvement with Ross’s st
criminal proceedings or recusing himself from the two
district court actions based on that prior involvement.

rom

the

ate

See

amendment to complaint docketed under 05-8519, filed June 9,

2005.

B. Judge Chatigny improperly threatened Paulding with

disbarment if he did not present the arguments proposed by
the Judge. See complaints at 4-5 (supporting allegations at

> Of the Complainants, two were among the attorneys
representing the State of Connecticut in the § 2254 action;

three

were among the attorneys representing the State in Ross’s state
court criminal proceedings; one represented the State in both.
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4-5, and claim partially incorporated by claims 2 and 3 at
bottom of 5).

c. Judge Chatigny’s “attempt to direct the manner in which
... Paulding advised [Ross] constituted blatant interference
with Michael Ross’s constitutional right to representation
by counsel of his choice.” See complaints at 5.

D. During the proceedings, Judge Chatigny “completely
abandoned the role of neutral and detached magistrate and
instead became an advocate for the position held by the
parties who were seeking to stop the execution.” See
complaints at 5, and amendments to complaint docketed under
05-8519, filed June 9 and July 6, 2005.

E. After Judge Chatigny’s stay orders had been vacated, he
lacked any authority to proceed on January 28, 2005, with
the conference that allegedly resulted in Paulding
convincing Ross to pursue further state court remedies, in
the absence of any motion by a party or an Article III case
or controversy. Id. at 2, second full paragraph in bold,
and 5, lines 2-4.

F. “[A] fter having been reversed by higher courts [in
appeals from Judge Chatigny’s orders staying Ross’s
execution], Judge Chatigny chose to defy those rulings and
effectively overturn them through the use of threats and
intimidation.” See complaints at 5.

We find the Complaints are without merit. Without doubt
Judge Chatigny’s actions were unusual. But in the judge’s
reasonable view, the circumstances thrust on him called for
unusual action in discharge of judicial duty to ensure the fair
resolution of the important proceeding before him. In ordinary
circumstance, a judge relies on the adversary system to ensure
that the rights of all parties are protected. Each attorney

protects his or her client’s rights, and the role of the judge is

to consider the arguments advanced on all sides and rule on the



litigated questions. Here, however, in the judge’s perception,
the adversary system was at risk of breaking down. Because of
Ross’s instruction to waive all legal challenges, his attorney
was refusing to take steps to protect Ross’s legal rights. 1In
light of the new evidence, however, the possibility existed that
Ross was not competent to waive his rights. In the judge’s view,
unless Paulding were persuaded to pursue the competency issue,
Ross might be executed based on waivers he was not competent to
give.

We express no view of the legal correctness of the judge’s
actions. It is fairly arguable, furthermore, that some of what
he said was susceptible to misunderstanding and might better have
been left unsaid. We are persuaded, however, that the judge’s
actions were not motivated by any bias in favor of Ross or
against the death penalty but only by the judge’s reasonable
perception that the discharge of his own judicial duty to ensure
that the proceeding be resolved in accordance with law required
that he take forceful steps to persuade Ross’s attorney to take
certain steps on Ross’s behalf. The issue raised by the
Complaints is whether the judge committed misconduct. We are
persuaded that he committed no misconduct.

The summary and discussion presented below are based on the
following materials: the seven complaints, as supplemented by the
amendments in the proceeding docketed under 05-8519; Judge

Chatigny’s May 4, 2005 memorandum and July 7, 2005 letter to
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Chief Judge Walker concerning the allegations in the complaints,
and his later sworn affidavit in which he attests that the
contents of the May 4, 2005 memorandum and July 7, 2005 letter
are true; Judge Chatigny’s December 13, 2005 memorandum of law
discussing the misconduct charges; affidavits and other evidence
obtained from numerous witnesses other than the Complainants and
the Judge; the transcripts from the various district court
conferences at issue; and various documents and opinions from the
two federal actions and related state court proceedings.

Judge Chatigny, through his attorney, has informed the
Committee that he does not request a hearing. See Dec. 16, 2005
Letter of Jacob D. Zeldes; see also 28 U.S.C. § 358 (b) (2)
(outlining right of judge to attend and participate in
“proceedings conducted by the investigating panel”); Local Rule
12 (same). The Complainants have not requested that they be
interviewed by a Committee representative or that a hearing be
held. See Local Rule 13(b), (¢) (outlining rights of
complainants to be interviewed, to present written or oral
argument, and to be called as witnesses at a hearing if they have
substantial evidence to offer); 28 U.S.C. § 358(b) (3) (stating
that a complainant must “be afforded an opportunity to appear at
proceedings conducted by the investigating panel, if the panel
concludes that the complainant could offer substantial

information”); Order filed Sept. 8, 2005 (Walker, C.J.)



(informing complainants of deadline for requesting interview by
Committee representative). The Complainants also did not seek to
present any further evidence or argument after they were
presented with copies of Judge Chatigny’s July 7, 2005 letter to
Chief Judge Walker, which responded to the misconduct complaints.
See Order filed Sept. 8, 2005 (Walker, C.J.) (directing that copy
of the July 7 letter be provided to each Complainant, and stating
that the Committee saw no need for a hearing). No interested
party having requested a hearing, or cross-examination, the
Committee, which has discretion under the applicable rules to
hold a hearing, has determined that a fact-finding hearing would
not be useful. See Local Rule 1ll(a). There is no reason to
believe that a hearing would produce any further information or

provide any further assistance in the resolution of these issues.

II. General Principles Governing Misconduct Proceedings

A federal judge’s conduct is sanctionable under the judicial
misconduct statutes and rules if it is “prejudicial to the
effective and expeditious administration of the business of the
courts.” 28 U.S.C. § 351(a); see also Local Rule 1(b). A
variety of sanctions and corrective actions may be imposed by the
Judicial Council, or the Judicial Conference, on a judge who has

engaged in judicial misconduct. ee 28 U.S.C. §§ 354 (a)-(b),

355(a); Local Rules 14(a), (e)-(g). Where the Judicial Council



finds that misconduct did not occur, or that sanctions are
otherwise not required, the Judicial Council may dismiss a claim
of misconduct, or “conclude the proceeding” on the grounds that
corrective action has been taken or intervening events have made
Judicial Council action unnecessary. See Local Rule 14 (a), (c)-

(d); see also In re Charges of Judicial Migconduct, 404 F.3d 688,

695-96 & n. 3 (2d Cir. Jud. Council 2005).

III. Discussion of Specifications and Recommendations of
Committee

A. Whether Judge Chatigny violated 28 U.S.C. § 455 by not, ab
initio, disclosing his prior involvement with Ross’s state
criminal proceedings or recusing himself from the two
district court actions based on that prior involvement.

The amendments to the complaint docketed under 05-8519
assert that Judge Chatigny should have recused himself based on,
or at least should have revealed, his involvement as an attorney,
prior to his appointment as a district judge, with Ross’s state
court appeal. See amendments to complaint docketed under 05-
8519, filed June 9 and July 6, 2005. In 1992, Judge Chatigny,
then in private practice, acting on behalf of the Connecticut
Criminal Defense Lawyers Association (“CCDLA”), filed in the
Connecticut Supreme Court an application for leave to file an
amicus brief in Ross’s direct appeal. Although the leave was

granted, no amicus brief was ever filed. See June 9, 2005

amendment to complaint in 05-8519 (with attached amicus
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application and order granting leave to file amicus brief).

The application did not set forth what position the CCDLA
intended to take in the appeal. See id., amicus application. It
stated simply that the “CCDLA is gravely concerned about the
trial court’s rulings on significant evidentiary issues in this
capital case and the implications of those rulings for the
practice of criminal law in this state.” Id. at 2. Other orders
and papers attached to the Complainant’s June 9, 2005 amendment
reflect that Robert N. Chatigny of Chatigny & Cowdery was then
placed on the Connecticut Supreme Court’s list of attorneys to be
served with papers and was acknowledged as the CCDLA’s amicus
counsel by Ross’s attorney. See id., attached documents dated
July 16, 1992, Jan. 18, 1994, and October 13, 199%4.

The Complaint asserts that Judge Chatigny’s appearance in
Ross’s case as amicus counsel required his recusal in the federal
habeas action under 28 U.S.C. § 455 (b) (2), which mandates recusal
“[wlhere in private practice [the judge] served as lawyer in the
matter in controversy.” Id., June 9, 2005 amendment at 2
(quoting § 455(b) (2)). Alternatively, the Complaint argues that,
even if Judge Chatigny’s amicus role does not fall within §
455(b) (2), he was required to fully disclose to the parties to
the federal actions his prior role in Ross’s direct appeal. Id.

In his letter of July 7, 2005, which was addressed to Chief
Judge Walker and responded to the charges, Judge Chatigny stated

that he had forgotten his brief inconsequential involvement with
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Ross'’s direct appeal and would have recused himself had he
remembered it. See July 7, 2005 Letter from Judge Chatigny to
Chief Judge Walker, at 5-6. His letter sets forth the facts as
follows. His involvement in Ross’s direct appeal resulted from a
request made by a friend, David S. Golub, Esqg., an attorney who
was coordinating the filing of amicus applications in the Ross

appeal. The involvement was quite limited. Soon after Chatigny

filed a request for leave, “[i]t became apparent ... that there
were no issues for [the Chatigny] firm to brief ... that were not
already being briefed by others.” He “took no further action.”

In July 1992, responding to a written inquiry sent by Ross, he
informed Ross by letter that he was “no longer participating in
this matter” and that Golub should be contacted for further
information. Id. at 5 (quoting Chatigny letter).

For purposes of the present proceedings, the Committee
assumes, without deciding, that, had he remembered his prior
involvement, slight as it was, Judge Chatigny should have

disclosed the prior appearance and recused himself.? However,

* Because we proceed on a different ground and assume for
purposes of this report that recusal was required, we have no
need to determine whether, under § 455(b) (2), the matter in which
Judge Chatigny served as a lawyer was “the matter in
controversy.” The Committee notes, however, that the
applicability of § 455(b) (2) is not clear. See Flamm, Judicial
Disqualification § 24.4 (1996, supp. 2005) (stating that
“precisely what Congress meant by the term ‘matter in
controversy’ - as that term is used in § 455(b) (2) - is not
altogether clear”) (discussing cases); Blue Cross & Blue Shield
v. Delta Dental, 248 F. Supp. 2d 39, 43 (D.R.I. 2003) (“Those
courts that have interpreted [§ 455(b) (2)] have widely divergent

12



the Committee finds no misconduct.
A failure to recuse resulting from an innocent and

reasonable memory lapse is not misconduct. See In re Cudahy, 294

F.3d 947, 952 (7th Cir. Jud. Council 2002) (Posner, J.) (stating
that “an erroneous failure to recuse oneself from considering a
particular matter is a legal error rather than judicial
misconduct”) .

Judge Chatigny’s sworn statement that he had no recollection
of his prior involvement is supported by all of the evidence, and
his failure of recollection is altogether reasonable based on the
circumstances.

We have studied the evidence submitted, which bears on Judge
Chatigny’s brief involvement, and we find no reason to doubt his
sworn statement that, during the conduct of the proceedings
before him, he had no recollection of the prior involvement until
it was called to his attention by this Complaint. It is true
that the Ross case, involving horrifying rapes and murders by a
serial killer, was highly unusual and memorable. Nonetheless,
Judge Chatigny’s personal involvement was fleeting, tangential,
and inconsequential, in addition to being long past. He never
represented a party; he had no significant contact with any
participant in the proceedings; and he never devoted any

substantial attention to the case. The extent of the involvement

views with respect to its meaning and application.”).
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was that he was requested by Golub to file an application to file
an amicus brief. He consulted with his partner James Cowdery,
Esq., and agreed to do so. He then wrote a pro forma application
to the court requesting leave to file an amicus brief. Soon
thereafter, he and his partner determined there was no issue to
be briefed and decided not to pursue the matter any further.
Apart from responding to an inquiry letter from Ross by advising
Ross that he was “no longer participating,” he took no further
action in the matter. Especially in view of the fact that this
took place thirteen years in the past, it is both understandable
and reasonable that Judge Chatigny would have forgotten it. The
evidence strongly supports his assertion to that effect. The
pertinent evidence submitted on the matter was as follows.
William F. Dow, III, the president of the CCDLA at the time
of Ross’s direct appeal, stated in an affidavit that he “has no
specific recollection of ever dealing with Judge Chatigny in
connection with any matters involving the Michael Ross case,” and
“no recollection whatsoever of ever talking directly with Robert
Chatigny about this matter or talking about Robert Chatigny to
David Golub as someone who would participate in preparing the
amicus brief on behalf of the CCDLA,” and “dol[es] not believe
[he] ever had any such discussion with then-Attorney Chatigny.”
Dow Affidavit dated Dec. 2, 2005 at Y 5, 8. According to Dow,
“it appears” that he contacted Golub in an effort to find someone
to write the CCDLA amicus brief and that Golub, in turn, sought

14



an attorney for that purpose. Id. at § 7. Dow has a “vague
recollection” of discussing, with Golub, Golub’s efforts to
obtain the assistance of another law firm. Id. Dow stated that
he does not possess any documents relating to Ross’s direct
appeal or the CCDLA’s or Judge Chatigny’s involvement in that
appeal. Id. at 9.

David Golub confirmed by affidavit that he was involved in
coordinating the submission of amicus briefs in Ross’s case and
had asked then attorney Chatigny to represent the CCDLA as an
amicus in that case. See Golub Affidavit dated Sept. 23, 2005 at
99 2-5. Golub recalled that Chatigny had agreed to represent the
CCDLA on the amicus application and to research the intended
amicus issue, that he provided Chatigny with various materials
pertaining to the amicus issue and a draft of the amicus
application, and that Chatigny later informed him that he did not
believe that the case law supported the argument to be made in
the CCDLA brief. They had agreed that Chatigny would do no
further work on the matter. Id. at §Y 5-7. Additionally, Golub
stated that, in July 1992, Chatigny sent him a copy of a brief
letter to Ross, which informed Ross that Chatigny was no longer
involved in the matter and suggested that Ross contact Golub for
further information. Id. at § 9, and exhs. C-E (Chatigny, Ross
and Golub letters). In a supplemental affidavit, Golub stated
that he did not recall ever discussing Chatigny’s involvement

with Dow, and does not believe that Dow had any awareness of that
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involvement. See Golub Supplemental Affidavit dated Nov. 23,
2005.

Judge Chatigny’s then partner, James Cowdery, submitted an
affidavit explaining that he and Chatigny were the only full-time
attorneys in the firm of Chatigny & Cowdery in 1992 and that they
consulted together on the matter. See Cowdery Affidavit dated
October 26, 2005 at Y 3-7. After Golub had asked Chatigny to
file the CCDLA brief, Chatigny and Cowdery agreed to seek the
court’s permission to file the brief, but soon decided that no
brief should be filed. Id. at (Y 5-7. Because no withdrawal of
their firm’s appearance was filed, the firm continued to receive
service copies of documents in the case. Id. at §Y 5, 7.

Cowdery also noted that, in May 2005, when the issue of the 1992
amicus application was raised, he, like Judge Chatigny, had no
recollection of their firm’s brief involvement. Id. at Y 4, 7.°

Michael A. Fitzpatrick, a current member of the CCDLA's
executive committee and CCDLA president for the one-year term
ending in October 2005, advised by affidavit that the CCDLA has
no documents in its possession relating to the 1992 amicus

application. ee Fitzpatrick Affidavit dated Nov. 21, 2005 at {9

¢ In supplemental affidavits, Golub and Cowdery stated that
they did not know of anyone with personal knowledge of Judge
Chatigny’s activities relating to the amicus application other
than Judge Chatigny, Golub, and Cowdery (aside from other counsel
knowing of his representation through the amicus application and
the list of counsel to be served with documents in the case).
See Cowdery Affidavit dated Nov. 15, 2005; Golub Affidavit dated
Nov. 23, 2005.
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3-4, 7-9. Fitzpatrick himself had represented Ross on direct
appeal from November 1992 to approximately October 2004. Id. at
Y 10. Fitzpatrick stated that, until the May 2005 media coverage
of Judge Chatigny’s prior involvement, he had been unaware that
Judge Chatigny had filed the amicus application. Id. at Y 11,
14.

In response to the Committee’s request for all relevant
documents, Judge Chatigny informed the Committee that he did not
possess any relevant files but arranged for Cowdery to obtain the
files relating to the CCDLA representation from his former firm’s
archives. See Response to Special Committee’s Request for Files,
Documents or Tangible Things, dated Sept. 21, 2005. The
documents retrieved by Cowdery and produced to the Committee are
consistent with Judge Chatigny’s account. The bulk of the
documents in the firm’s files are service copies of documents
generated by other parties to the litigation or Golub, or are
photocopies of reported decisions. See response. Only eighteen
pages of handwritten notes, several with as little as 20 to 30
words on them, were identified as containing the writing of
either Judge Chatigny (15 pages) or Cowdery (3 pages). See
Zeldes letter dated October 21, 2005. None of these documents
contradicts the judge’s assertion that he did no substantial work
in the matter.

The Complainant in 05-8519, who represented the State in
Ross’s direct appeal, had no memory of any involvement by Judge

17



Chatigny. His complaint resulted from his receipt of information
(or a rumor) from another employee of the State’s Attorney’s
Office, who, in turn, received it from an employee of the
Connecticut Legislature’s House Republicans press office, who has
not identified his source. Those persons were contacted by the
Committee’s representative. None had any knowledge of the extent
of the work done by the Chatigny firm in Ross’s state court
appeal.

The Committee has been unable to locate any other person
with knowledge of Judge Chatigny’s involvement in Ross’s appeal
or in possession of documents relating to that involvement.

Among others, the eleven people who served terms as CCDLA
president after Dow’s term ended in 1992 have all stated that
they have no knowledge or relevant documents.

Finding no reason in the evidence to doubt Judge Chatigny’s
sworn statement that, during the conduct of the proceedings
before him, he had no recollection of the prior involvement, we
conclude there was no misconduct and recommend dismissal of this
claim.

B. Whether Judge Chatigny improperly threatened Paulding with
disbarment if he did not pursue particular issues.

The Complaints assert that Judge Chatigny committed

misconduct in threatening the disbarment of attorney Paulding.®

® These allegations were raised in conjunction with the
allegation that Judge Chatigny interfered with Ross’s Sixth
Amendment rights. The Committee has treated the threat

18



While the judge used strong language, there was no misconduct.
Under the proper circumstances, a judge may deliver a warning
that threatens a misbehaving attorney with disciplinary action -
a contempt citation by the judge or referral to another
disciplinary authority - without necessarily interfering with any
legitimate right of the attorney or the attorney’s client. See
United States v. Dennis, 183 F.2d 201, 225 (2d Cir. 1950) (L.
Hand, J.). The relevant facts are as follows:

As noted earlier, the two federal court actions were filed
only a few days before the execution, which was scheduled for
January 26, 2005 or within five days thereafter. See Complaints
at 1. Judge Chatigny held a conference in the habeas action with
the parties’ attorneys and Paulding on January 24, 2005 for the
purpose of determining whether the petitioner was entitled to
“next friend” status. A discussion ensued on Ross’s competence

and volitional capacity. See Jan. 24, 2005 Trans. In view of

Ross’s determination and his instructions to his attorney to
waive any further challenge to his execution, the question of his
competence to make such waiver was of critical importance.

Judge Chatigny concluded that the question of Ross’s
competence involved sufficient unresolved issues to warrant
granting of next-friend status and a stay of the execution to

permit further review. Id. at 38, 84-90. Of particular concern

allegation both as an independent claim and as a supporting
argument for the Sixth Amendment claim.
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to Judge Chatigny was the fact that certain evidence drawing
Ross’s volitional capacity and competence into question had never
been “the subject of an adversarial proceeding” or been “explored
factually” in state court or in a prior federal action before a
different district judge. Id. at 20, 87. On January 25, 2005,
the Second Circuit found that the grant of next-friend status was
premature. The court instructed that the judge first determine
Ross’s competence because next-friend status depended on that
determination. The Court of Appeals, however, denied the State’s

motion to vacate the stay of execution. See Ross ex rel. Smyth

v. Lantz, 396 F.3d 512, 513-15 (2d Cir. 2005). The State
appealed the Second Circuit’s decision to the Supreme Court.

In the meantime, the § 1983 action was filed on January 25,
2005 by Ross’s father, asserting that Ross’s execution would
violate the father’s constitutional rights. See Complaint and

Amended Complaint in Ross v. Lantz, No. 05-cv-130 (D. Conn.)

(docket entries 1, 11). The following day, Judge Chatigny held a
conference regarding the § 1983 action, during which the State’s
attorneys stated that they were “at a significant loss to
understand” the due process claim asserted in the complaint, Jan.
26, 2005 Trans. at 13-17, and “adamantly disputed” Judge
Chatigny’s jurisdiction to enter a second stay of execution, id.
at 20. In response to the State’s attorneys’ question whether
the stay in the § 1983 action would be vacated if the Supreme

Court vacated the stay in the habeas action, Judge Chatigny
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stated that vacatur of the first stay by the Supreme Court would
not require vacatur of the 